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N431

Historic Building Appraisal
Nos. 93 and 94 Ng Fai Tin,
Clear Water Bay, Sai Kung, New Territories

Ng Fai Tin (7¥€H, meaning “five fields”) is the name of a hamlet that Historical
branched off from Pan Long Wan (f&f}&), a Hakka village inhabited by the Lau clan Interest
that was established about 300 years ago. A total of 13 generations have lived in Pan
Long Wan since the first members of the clan arrived from Niwei in Huizhou (G J[3E

' As the village’s population grew over time, some

[&) in Guangdong province.
families decided to move away and settle in what is now Ng Fai Tin. The building at
Nos. 93 and 94 Ng Fai Tin, which is an ancestral house belonging to a Lau family,?
was once used as a base for the Urban Detachment (7% H1[fX) of the Hong Kong and
Kowloon Brigade® (&L K%, the “Brigade”) during the War of Resistance against
Japanese Aggression.* Judging from old aerial photos, it is believed that the building

was constructed between 1924 and 1935.°

When the Japanese invaded Hong Kong in December 1941, armed units of
the Guangdong People’s Anti-Japanese Guerrillas (BEE5 A BT HIFE[%) under the
leadership of the Communist Party of China (CPC)® made their way into various parts
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2 OQral history interview with Mr Lau Bing On, conducted by the Antiquities and Monuments Office
on 24 July 2024.

3 The Brigade was named Hong Kong and Kowloon Brigade (;/1.K[%) when it was established in
early 1942. Tt was later renamed as Hong Kong and Kowloon Independent Brigade (G&J 117K
[X) in late 1944 when it became a unit directly led by the headquarters of the East River Column
of the Guangdong People’s Anti-Japanese Guerrillas (5 A ERH1 HIFEE B T4E[%). See B
M ~ BlE7k 45 0 CEILRRE) (B3« SR (F8) ARATE » 202244 ) H24 -
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5 From the aerial photo taken in 1924, the site where the building at Nos. 93 and 94 Ng Fai Tin now
stands was a tract of agricultural land with no indication of any buildings on it at that time. The
next available aerial photo, which was taken in 1935, shows that a structure with the same footprint
as the existing building had now been erected on the site. This supports the view that the existing
building was constructed between 1924 and 1935. Survey and Mapping Office, Lands Department,
Aerial Photo No.: PEGASUS RN H 0014, dated 13 November 1924 and Aerial Photos No.:
EAGLE RN HK 0003, dated 22 January 1935.

®  When Japan accelerated its invasion of South China in late 1938, Zeng Sheng (% 4:), a CPC
member, returned to his homeland to form the Huiyang Bao’an People’s Anti-Japanese Guerrillas
(E[HEZ N R H EE84EE). At the same time, another CPC member Wang Zuorao (F{FZ2),
formed the Dongguan Braves Guerrillas (3E5E/H- T ##i[%). The two groups merged in 1940 to
become the Guangdong People’s Anti-Japanese Guerrillas. The Guangdong People’s Anti-Japanese
Guerrillas was renamed the East River Column of the Guangdong People’s Anti-Japanese

Guerrillas in December 1943. See 4 @ (A REERR) (JbF @ MRS > 1992 F) 0 H
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of the New Territories. They called the locals to action to defend their home and

assisted in driving out bandits who were taking advantage of the chaotic situation to
intimidate and rob villagers. As a result, the guerrillas gained the support of the
long-suffering villagers, including the Laus in Pan Long Wan and Ng Fai Tin.’
These armed guerrilla units were then consolidated into the Brigade, which announced
its establishment at the Rosary Mission Centre, a chapel in Wong Mo Ying (=TEfE),
Sai Kung on 3 February 1942.® The Chinese name used by the Brigade was da dui
(K%, large team), and all the detachments in the Brigade were called zhong dui (H°

%, medium-sized team) regardless of how many members they included.’

The Urban Detachment, one of the six detachments'® that made up the
Brigade, was formed in late 1943'! initially with fewer than 20 members. Within a
year, it had grown in strength to more than 100 members, and by the spring of 1945 it
numbered some 300 members, more than 100 of whom were women.!? During the
War of Resistance, the building at Nos. 93 and 94 Ng Fai Tin was a place where the
detachment’s female commander Fang Lan (J5i) met other key leaders, including
Chen Peiwen (P {il3%), Huang Yangsheng (&15%f) and Song Luochuan (58;%]/1[) to
plan operations against the Japanese.'> Members of the Urban Detachment were
widely spread throughout urban areas in Kowloon and on Hong Kong Island, where

they harassed Japanese activities and supply lines whenever possible.!* They also
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Tomadg: (e oMEsE ) (IR MERCEE H AR (L 0 1992 4 ) - E 315 and Oral history interview with
Mr Lau Bing On, conducted by the Antiquities and Monuments Office on 24 July 2024.

8 Chan Sui-jeung, East River Column: Hong Kong Guerrillas in the Second World War and After
(Hong Kong: Hong Kong University Press, 2009), pp.38-39.

® Chan Sui-jeung, East River Column: Hong Kong Guerrillas in the Second World War and After
(Hong Kong: Hong Kong University Press, 2009), p.67.

19 In addition to the Urban Detachment and the Marine Detachment (J&_R[3), the Brigade was in
command of the detachments deployed in various areas, including Lantau Detachment (ALt
[%%), Sha Tau Kok Detachment (YDEEFGH[Z), Sai Kung Detachment (FH5E %), Yuen Long
Detachment (GTEAFX). See el i it s ~ RAEENLARRB L EERERERH (R
TLHER AU S B s ) (I 2RI ENIRIME > 1986 4 ) (HiT= ) and Chan Sui-jeung,
East River Column: Hong Kong Guerrillas in the Second World War and After (Hong Kong: Hong
Kong University Press, 2009), p.67.
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One of the major operations was led by Liang Fu (221&) of the Urban Detachment, in which the
railway bridge across Waterloo Road in Kowloon was sabotaged on the night of 21 April 1944.
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engaged in propaganda work, for example launching “paper bomb raids” (4[k5#EY) to

distribute anti-Japanese flyers in the city. Additionally, they gathered intelligence on
the strength and deployment of the Japanese forces, as well as the number of ships in
Hong Kong harbour, passing on this information to the Allies to enable them to draw

up detailed plans for eventual counterattacks.'>

During the War of Resistance, Fang Lan and other members of the Urban
Detachment gained the support of the Lau family that resided on the ground floor of
the building at Nos. 93 and 94 Ng Fai Tin and that then provided the guerrillas with

16 The detachment used messengers, nicknamed “little

accommodation upstairs.
devils (/NFE%)”,!7 to carry out work for it, one of whom was Lau Bing On (Z[J#%),
a member of the Lau family that lived at Nos. 93 and 94 Ng Fai Tin. According to
Lau Bing On, his duties after joining the detachment included carrying information
and messages across enemy lines to Kowloon by land — via Clear Water Bay Road
and Ngau Chi Wan to Yau Ma Tei — or by boat from the liaison checkpoint in Hang

Hau to Shau Kei Wan and then on to destinations in Causeway Bay or Central.'®

The building at Nos. 93 and 94 Ng Fai Tin comprises two side-by-side units
that are two storeys high. Its load-bearing walls are made of stone, while all the wall
surfaces are plastered and painted in white. The units each have their own entrance

on the ground floor, both of which have granite thresholds and traces of decorative

This successful mission effectively disrupted Japanese the deployment of Japanese forces to the
New Territories to conduct raids against the guerrillas, as the units sent to take part were called
back to defend the urban areas after the bridge was blown up. See Z21EIH ~ 47 : (PO H
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16 QOral history interview with Mr Lau Bing On, conducted by the Antiquities and Monuments Office
on 24 July 2024.

Most of the Brigade’s messengers were children, some as young as 7 or 8 years old, who were
familiar with their hometown and could generally move around more freely when running errands.
See Chan Sui-jeung, East River Column: Hong Kong Guerrillas in the Second World War and
After (Hong Kong: Hong Kong University Press, 2009), p.50.

18 Oral history interview with Mr Lau Bing On, conducted by the Antiquities and Monuments Office
on 24 July 2024. At the age of 9 in 1941, Lau came under the influence of the CPC and then
involved himself in guerrilla activities by serving as a boy messenger. See also £ HE%w © (HE
ERI—ENAFEE ST HES) (78 ZBEE (%) ARAE 1993 4) H
127-128 -
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pilasters on either side of the doorways. All the windows are rectangular and are

spaced at regular intervals; those on the gable walls feature projecting hood mouldings
to protect against the weather. The building is easily identifiable by the decorative
pedestals that sit at the four corners of the roof and that are each topped by stepped
mouldings and a ball ornament, which add visual interest to the exterior of the
building. In contrast to the Western influence that are evident in the building’s
decorative features, the roof is laid with traditional Chinese clay tiles in Hakka style
on timber rafters and purlins — building materials and a construction method that

reflect a Chinese style.

Internally, the floor plans are divided into two units by walls. Doorways in
the walls originally allowed the residents to move between the units on both storeys,
but the one on the ground floor is now blocked. Access to No. 93 Ng Fai Tin was
not allowed, but the interior of No. 94 Ng Fai Tin was inspected. The ceiling of this
unit reveals the underside of the upper floor, which is constructed with timber planks
laid over timber joists although some of the timber flooring has collapsed. Based on
site observation, it is believed that the internal staircase to the upper floor, which no
longer exists, was located at the rear of the unit.

The building at Nos. 93 and 94 Ng Fai Tin has undergone some alterations
over the years. For example, a balcony with an ornamental balustrade originally
extended across the two bays on the first floor, but it was enclosed after the end of the
Second World War.!” Moreover, all the original windows have been replaced with
modern aluminium frames. Despite these changes, the original built form of the
building, including the footprint and the two-storey structure with a pitched roof,
remains unchanged. The prominent decorative features at the corners of the roof are
still in sound condition, and some old timber structures on the ground floor have been
retained. A member of the Lau family who lived in the building recalls that the
pitched tiled roof of the building has not been altered since 1941,° which indicates
that it has been kept in more or less authentic condition. The building has stood in
Ng Fai Tin for many decades and is regarded as a valuable piece of built heritage, as it
features a rare and distinctive design of this type of pre-war residence compared with
the other village houses in the neighbourhood.

Once serving as a base of the Urban Detachment of the Brigade during the
Japanese occupation, the building at Nos. 93 and 94 Ng Fai Tin bears witness to the

heroic deeds of the Brigade’s personnel, who joined forces with the local population

Oral history interview with Mr Lau Bing On, conducted by the Antiquities and Monuments Office
on 24 July 2024.

20 QOral history interview with Mr Lau Bing On, conducted by the Antiquities and Monuments Office

on 24 July 2024.
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to contribute to the War of Resistance and eventual victory in the Second World War.

The building at Nos. 93 and 94 Ng Fai Tin forms part of a group of graded Group Value
buildings in Sai Kung that have historical associations with the War of Resistance.
They include the Che Kung Temple in Ho Chung (#5)f) (Grade 1), Holy Family
Chapel in Chek Keng (FRf%) (Grade 2), Rosary Mission Centre in Wong Mo Ying
(Grade 2), Sai Kung Lok Yuk Kindergarten in Sai Kung Market (Grade 2),
Immaculate Conception Chapel in Tai Long (XJE) (Grade 3) and Yuk Yin Study Hall
in Sha Kok Mei (Grade 3).
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